1988

George Ronald Wright v. Westside Nursery, and Darrel Humphries : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff initiated this action for the purpose of establishing the enforceability and terms of a certain exchange agreement. Defendants counterclaimed seeking rescission of the contract and damages on a theory of fraudulent misrepresentation. Defendant Humphries also sought damages for the termination of his employment contract.

Prior to trial the district court summarily dismissed Defendants' counterclaim to the extent that it sought rescission of the exchange agreement.

The case was tried to a jury and submitted on special interrogatories. The jury concluded that both parties had breached the contracts and also found Plaintiff guilty of fraudulently misrepresenting the value of the real estate conveyed to Defendants as part of the exchange agreement.

Judgment was entered on the special verdict. Following the denial of motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for new trial, Plaintiff filed this appeal seeking reversal of the judgment awarding damages for fraudulent misrepresentation and challenging other aspects of the proceedings and resulting judgment.

Defendants cross-appealed seeking the entry of a judgment awarding damages for wrongful termination of Defendant Humphries' employment contract and seeking reversal of the judgment to the extent that it held Defendants responsible for the payment of a certain promissory note executed in favor of a third party, Zions Bank.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Does the evidence support a finding that Plaintiff made any statement of material fact concerning the value of the subject real property?

2. Is a statement of opinion regarding the value of real property actionable as fraud?

3. Does the evidence support a finding that any statement made by Plaintiff was false?

4. Does the evidence support a finding that Plaintiff knew that any statement he made regarding the value of the subject real property was in fact false?

5. Does the evidence support a finding that Plaintiff acted recklessly with respect to any statement made regarding the value of the subject real property?

6. Does the evidence support a finding that Plaintiff fraudulently concealed any material fact relating to the value of the subject real property?

7. Is the principle which requires the elements of fraud to be proved by clear and convincing evidence relevant in determining the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's findings regarding fraud?

8. Did the district court err in refusing to instruct the jury that a good faith expression of opinion regarding value is not actionable as fraud?

9. Did the district court err in entering judgment on the verdict where it clearly appeared that the jury had included as damages a hypothetical real estate commission hypothetically incurred by Defendants in the subsequent sale of the subject property?

10. Is Defendant Humphries entitled to indemnification where he refused and failed to render an appropriate accounting?

11. Is Defendant Humphries entitled to reimbursement of any funds borrowed from Zions First National Bank following the issuance and service of the Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause dated December 23, 1985?

12. Did the district court err in refusing to instruct the jury that Defendant Humphries was entitled to indemnification or reimbursement of funds borrowed from Zions First National Bank only if Defendant established that the funds were actually used for the purpose of discharging Plaintiff's obligations, that the draw was authorized by Plaintiff, and that the funds were not withdrawn in violation of an order of the district court?

13. Are Defendants entitled to attorney's fees based upon contractual stipulation where the majority of the contract claims were resolved in favor of Plaintiff and against the Defendants?

14. Did the district court err in refusing to exonerate the injunction bond filed by Transamerica Insurance Services where the previous rulings of the court and the Special Verdict established the enforceability of the exchange agreement and Plaintiff's right to the possession of the nursery and where there was never a finding made or a judgment entered establishing that any temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction sought by Plaintiff was wrongfully issued?

15. Did the district court err in denying Plaintiff's motion for directed verdict, Plaintiff's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and Plaintiff's motion for new trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the sake of clarity, Plaintiff will be referred to as "Wright" and Defendants Humphries and Westside Nursery will be collectively referred to as "Humphries" unless the context specifically requires a more exact designation of the individual defendants.

THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS

Wright and Humphries became acquainted in the early summer of 1985 when Humphries, as general partner and manager of Westside Nursery, was landscaping Wright's residence in St. George. In the weeks that followed they developed a friendship as they began to discuss Wright's possible acquisition of the Westside Nursery. (T. 75-76, 409-411, 694-695)

Westside Nursery was a limited partnership with assets consisting of inventory (principally plant material), equipment and goodwill. (T. 73, 759-760, 834) The partners included Darrel Humphries (45%), his father-in-law (Gilbert Barnes)(45%), and James LaVae Smith (10%). (T. 72-75, 628; Defendant's Exhibit No. 9) The limited partnership owned no real estate and leased its business premises from James LaVae Smith. (T. 73)

Humphries' former partner, Ed Wootton, had recently sold his 45-percent interest in the business for \$20,500. (T. 71-72, 74-75)

Westside Nursery had suffered a financial loss each of the six years it had been in business with losses totaling \$183,597. (T. 78-79, 258-262) The actual negative cash flow in the business totaled \$206,668. (T. 258-262)

The local K-Mart store had recently opened a garden shop and three of Humphries' competitors had recently gone out of business. (T. 85-86, 417) Wright was convinced that the business would be more successful if it would not compete directly with K-Mart and similar establishments and instead offered plant material which was considered exotic or unusual in the St. George area. (T. 86-90, 417-418)

Despite prolonged negotiations the parties could not come to terms regarding the value of the nursery business. (T. 81-84, 415-416, 432-433, 701-702, 710-711) Wright made it clear that he was interested only in acquiring the plant material and that the other purported assets of the nursery were of no value to him. (T. 658-659, 759-760, 834, 1026)

The parties began to negotiate the transaction in terms of an exchange involving a portion of a 22-acre tract Wright owned in Weber County. (T. 419) Wright explained the reason for approaching the transaction as an exchange of properties:

Q. Okay. Were there any other reasons why you didn't determine the value?

A. Yes. Because every time we approached the price, Darrel and I suddenly were into disagreement. If we were -- as soon as we began to say -- interpret or exchange ideas in terms of price as opposed to value, the negotiations broke down and did so early on at my home.

And therefore, it was our suggestion that we involve ourself in a trade with enough inherent elasticity on either side to accommodate either party. Whether his inventory ended up being \$28,000 or \$35,000 or 40 or more was not what I was bargaining for, I was bargaining for the inventory. Whether my land turned out to be 28,000 or 35 or 40 was not what he was bargaining for. He was bargaining for those two acres¹ of land that had the excellent prospect of being developed along with my own property.

(T. 432-433)

Humphries traveled to Weber County at Wright's expense in August, 1985. He denied having seen the property on that occasion. (T. 81-83, 428-429, 674-675, 699-701)

¹ Initially Wright contemplated trading only two acres for the nursery inventory. Ultimately three acres were conveyed to Humphries as part of the exchange. (T. 419, 759)

On October 3, 1985, the parties traveled to Weber County for the purpose of negotiating the exchange. (T. 91-99, 215-217, 758) They spent the night in Wright's home near the 22-acre parcel. The next morning they spent more than four hours reviewing and revising the drafts of two written agreements which had been prepared by Wright's attorney, Timothy B. Anderson. (T. 94, 420, 435, 711-712) The first agreement related to the exchange agreement involving the real estate and the nursery. (Addendum A; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1) The second was an agreement relating to Humphries' employment as Wright's nursery manager. (Addendum B; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 2)

The parties specifically discussed and included in the written contract provisions relating to the payment of a certain promissory note which Humphries had executed in favor of Zions First National Bank on January 3, 1985. (T. 366-367, 477-479) Wright's position throughout the litigation would be that it was Humphries' obligation to pay and discharge this note while Humphries would take the position that Wright had agreed to assume it. (R. vol.IV, pp. 19-20)

There is some conflict in the evidence concerning whether the agreements were signed before or after the parties and their wives viewed the property which was to be conveyed in exchange for the nursery assets.² (T. 95-

² In relating the events surrounding the inspection of the property, Mrs. Humphries stated:

Q. [BY MR. CHAMBERLAIN] Were you a participant in any of the conversations between Darrel and Ron Wright where the value of the property to be exchanged was discussed?

A. Not in the conferences they had.

Q. Were you on another occasion?

A. When we were in the vehicle of the car driving around that afternoon looking at property. Because I kept nudging Darrel and saying, "Where are we going and

96) Regardless of the exact chronology of events, it is apparent that Humphries voiced no objection to the exchange when he viewed the property on October 4, 1985.

Wright's 22-acre tract is located south of Ogden and approximately 1.6 miles from Interstate 15. (T. 422) It has easy access to the Interstate via Combe Road to Harrison Boulevard, a major artery. (T. 424)

The property is located south and west of Combe Road and is relatively level, the elevation dropping only approximately 10 feet in the 1600-foot length of the property. (T. 97-98, 426) The property is covered with tall grasses and there are numerous trees in the northerlymost portion which was conveyed to Humphries as a part of the subject transaction. (T. 97-100, 426, 447, 949) Humphries acknowledged the parcel's striking aesthetic appeal. (T. 97-98)

The property is bordered on the west and south by residential subdivisions which have developed into middle- to upper-income neighborhoods where there exists good pride of ownership. A public school and LDS chapel are located in the immediate vicinity and streets are paved to the subject property. (T. 435-439, 471-472, 938-939, 947)

The adjacent property located north and west of Combe Road is heavily wooded and ascends to a bench. (T. 425-426)

Wright had acquired the 22-acre tract in 1957 in connection with the

what are we doing?"

And he said, "We are going to go look at some property we are thinking of trading for the nursery."

(T. 674)

acquisition of approximately 350 acres. (T. 425) As the parties approached the property on October 4, 1985, he outlined its history for Humphries and his wife. Wright related the terms of numerous land sales which he had made in the area and pointed out the locations of these properties. A summary of the testimony regarding neighboring properties is attached hereto as Addendum C-2.³

No evidence was introduced which would indicate that Wright had recently obtained an appraisal of the property which he proposed to convey to Humphries and Wright never represented that the property had recently been appraised. Wright did, however, disclose the fact that he had recently mortgaged 5.93 acres located in the southeasterly end of the 22-acre tract to Sun Capital Bank which had loaned him \$20,000 per acre. (T. 589-590, 597-600, 661-665; Defendant's Exhibit No. 32)

Humphries conceded that Wright was not obligated to provide an appraisal as a part of their agreement and that he was satisfied with Wright's opinion regarding the value. (T. 134-137, 735)

At trial Humphries admitted several times that nothing that Wright told him regarding transactions involving the neighboring properties was false. (T. 137-138, 449-452, 689-690, 775-778)

As the parties walked the property, Wright disclosed the fact that there was no sewer currently servicing the area. (T. 109-111, 436, 715) The homes in neighboring subdivision were on septic tanks. (T. 111) Wright indicated to

³ Addendum C-1 is a reproduction of Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 5. Addendum C-2 is a reproduction of the same exhibit upon which figures regarding the sales prices or mortgage values of the neighboring properties have been superimposed together with supporting references to the record.

Humphries that he expected sewer to be on line within a year to a year and a half and that he intended to develop the property once the sewer was available. (T. 110-111, 715)

Several options for developing the land were discussed. These included merely holding the property as an investment, developing the property as a separate subdivision, and waiting and developing the property with Wright once sewer was available. (T. 97-98, 106-108, 112-113, 436-438, 594-595, 715-716)

Humphries recalls some of these conversations:

And that there would be a sewer -- something to do with the sewer would be coming to the property within the next year to year and a half, but if I wanted to develop the ground with him prior to that point, I could. He would show me how to develop it because he said, "I know all the tricks. I'm a developer. However, it is my recommendation that you wait, and we will develop this together in a year and a half down the road."

(T. 715)

Humphries and his wife both claim that Wright stated the subject three acres was worth \$30,000 an acre. Humphries testified:

Q. [BY MR. PENDLETON] And could you tell the jury what was said in the automobile about the value of this particular piece of property.

A. The exact words, I do not recall. Mr. Wright implied to both of us that the value of the property would be worth \$30,000 per acre.

Q. He implied that?

A. From the best of my recollection, that's correct. When I say "implied," let me restate that. "You will find the value of this particular property to be worth \$30,000 an acre."

(T. 774-775)

Once the agreements were signed, the parties went to Great Basin Engineering and then on to a local title company where the deeds were prepared. (T. 719-720) The same day, two deeds were executed and recorded conveying the northwesterly most three acres of the 22-acre tract. (Plaintiff's Exhibit Nos. 50 and 51) Humphries and his wife were, at their request, designated as the grantees. (T. 481-482)

Upon returning to St. George, Humphries continued in his position as manager of Westside Nursery pursuant to the terms of the management agreement which the parties had executed. (T. 121-122, 752-754) Under the terms of this agreement Humphries' salary was established at the sum of \$2500 per month. (Addendum B) He had been withdrawing a salary of only \$1000 per month prior to the exchange and his salary as Wright's manager was established with the understanding that Humphries would be responsible for his own taxes and insurance. (Addendum B; T. 80)

In early October 1985, Wright began to implement his vision of the future of the nursery business. (T. 490-491, 687) In this undertaking he invested approximately \$60,000 in the business during the following two months. (T. 490-492)

THE CONTROVERSY

Sometime between the execution of the agreements and Thanksgiving 1985, Gilbert Barnes wanted Humphries to have the Weber County property appraised. (T. 134)

Shortly thereafter one Chad Eskelsen contacted Humphries and began

to communicate to him rumors concerning Wright's alleged lack of integrity. (T. 1015-1016) Humphries became concerned about the value of the property in Weber County and after a cursory investigation concluded that he had been defrauded. (T. 739-741)

Humphries contacted Wright and demanded copies of the agreements. When he learned that Wright had gone into town for the purpose of making photocopies, Humphries took one of Wright's employees with him and literally assaulted Wright when they located him at the Washington County Library. Once Humphries had stripped them from Wright's hands he then gave the documents to the nursery employee who immediately left the area. (T. 139-143, 493-498) This incident occurred on December 5, 1985. Thereafter, Wright never returned to the nursery until he was given possession of the business by court order in March 1986. (T. 500-501)

On December 10, 1985, Humphries signed a second promissory note in favor of Zions Bank in the amount of \$30,000. (T. 991-992; Defendant's Exhibit No. 20)

On the same day, Humphries retained an attorney, Hans Q. Chamberlain, with a \$500 check drawn on Wright's nursery account. (T. 145-146; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 53) Chamberlain immediately wrote a letter to Wright advising him that Humphries had reason to believe that the Weber County property had been misrepresented and that Wright had fraudulently concealed an impending building moratorium. The letter indicated that Humphries was willing to confirm the contracts and remain at the nursery as Wright's manager if Wright would

immediately pay the \$15,000 note to Zions Bank and deposit sufficient funds in the nursery bank account to cover existing overdrafts.⁴ (T. 801-806, 815-818; Defendant's Exhibit No. 69)

On December 13, Humphries drew \$15,000 against the \$30,000 note which he had executed on December 10. These funds were deposited in the nursery account. (T. 991-992)

On December 18, 1985, Chamberlain again wrote to Wright announcing that as a result of Wright's failure to comply with the demands of the December 10 letter, Humphries had repudiated and rescinded the written contracts. (Defendant's Exhibit No. 75)

THE LITIGATION BEGINS

On December 23 Wright, by and through his attorney, Timothy B. Anderson, initiated this action for the purpose of establishing his ownership of the nursery business and his right to the possession thereof. (R. vol.I, pp. 1-21A) On the same day the district court issued a temporary restraining order which, among other things, prohibited Humphries from incurring any further indebtedness in Wright's behalf or in behalf of Westside Nursery. (Addendum D; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3) A copy of this order was served on Humphries on December 26. This order was extended from time to time by stipulation of counsel until a hearing on

⁴ The jury would eventually decide that the \$15,000 note was Humphries' obligation and its findings would further demonstrate that the overdrafts would not have occurred but for Humphries' misappropriation of nursery account funds to his own use and his failure to reimburse the nursery account for the payment of obligations which he was to assume and discharge under the terms of the written agreements. (R. vol.IV, pp. 143-146)

the temporary possession of the nursery was conducted in March 1986. (T. 149-151, 365, Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3)

On December 30, 1985, Humphries drew an additional \$5,000 against the \$30,000 note at Zions Bank. On January 8, 1986, he took another \$10,000 draw. Both draws were deposited in the nursery account. (T. 991-992)

Between December 1985 and March 1986, Humphries consistently repudiated the contracts, took the position that he was the owner of Westside Nursery and that the exchange and management agreements had been rescinded. (T. 186-187, 806-809) In his own words:⁵

Q. [BY MR. PENDLETON] "MR. CHAMBERLAIN: I'm not sure I understand the question.

"MR. ANDERSON: I asked him if he told Mr. Smith or represented to him that he owned the nursery, rather than Mr. Wright, at this point.

"THE WITNESS: Well, I think -- hey, I don't know. I could have, Tim. I could have. I haven't the slightest idea.

If you're asking me in my opinion who owns the nursery, as far as I'm concerned, I own the nursery flat out. No question about it in my mind at all. I own Westside Nursery."

Was that your statement on that occasion?

A. Yes. That was my statement as of March the 11th, at that particular day. Because I had not been paid from Mr. Wright.

(T. 808-809)

Following a hearing which was concluded on March 19, 1986, the district

⁵ The quoted language is from Darrel Humphries' deposition of March 11, 1986, regarding which he was questioned at trial.

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