1988

# George Ronald Wright v. Westside Nursery and Darrel Humphries : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury properly concluded and the trial court properly sustained the jury verdict that (1) Wright misrepresented the value of the property conveyed to Humphries and (2) that Wright should pay Humphries for the \$30,000 note borrowed by Humphries and deposited to the Westside Nursery account and spent on nursery debts. Wright has failed to establish, as appellate review requires, that the facts most favorable to the trial court judgment are insufficient to support that judgment.

The evidence not only establishes misrepresentations concerning value that substantiate a finding of fraud, but supports a finding that Wright made statements concerning the value of the Ogden property recklessly or with knowledge that said statements were false. Furthermore, the failure to disclose vital information concerning value or restrictions on the development potential of the property negates Wright's claim that an opinion concerning value stated in good faith is not actionable as fraud.

The trial court should not have taken away the jury verdict in favor of Humphries for \$15,000 arising from Wright's breach of the Management Agreement, despite Wright's defense of justification, when in fact the jury found, and the trial court sustained a finding, that Wright breached both the Purchase Agreement and the Management Agreement, particularly since Wright did not object to the form of the Special Verdict before it was filed.

Finally, the trial court erroneously awarded Wright pre-judgment interest on damages running in his favor while at the same time, denied pre-judgment interest for damages running in favor of Humphries.

As a result of the foregoing, this Court should affirm the finding of fraud and indemnification in favor of Humphries, reverse the trial court and reinstate the \$15,000 awarded Humphries for breach of the Management Agreement, grant pre-judgment interest in favor of both parties, affirm Humphries' award of attorney's fees in the sum of \$10,000, and grant Humphries further indemnification on the \$30,000 promissory note according to the terms thereof.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

WRIGHT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE FACTS MOST FAVORABLE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT ARE INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THAT JUDGMENT

Because Wright's appeal is based, for the most part, on claims of insufficiency of the evidence, this Court must uphold the judgment of the trial court unless Wright is able to demonstrate that the facts most favorable to that judgment are insufficient to support it.

In Harline v. Campbell, 728 P.2d 980 (Utah 1986), the Supreme Court stated:

Under familiar rules of appellate review, the Court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the judgment of the trial court, and the findings of the trial court will not be disturbed unless there is no substantial record evidence to support them. It is incumbent upon the appellant to marshal all of the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and to then demonstrate that even when viewed in the light most favorable to the factual determinations made by the trial court, that the evidence is insufficient to support its findings.

728 P.2d at 982.

In at least four cases, the appellate courts have declined to consider an attack based on the insufficiency of the evidence where the appellant failed, as Wright has failed, to first marshal the facts in support of the trial court's findings. See Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068 (Utah 1985); J&M Const. Co. v. Southam, 722 P.2d 779 (Utah 1986); Fitzgerald v. Critchfield, 744 P.2d 301 (Utah App. 1987); Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1987).

The standard is equally applicable to jury verdicts. In Lee v. Howes, 548 P.2d 619 (Utah 1976), the jury, on special interrogatories, returned a verdict for defendant,

and plaintiff appealed citing evidence favorable to her own point of view. The Supreme Court, at page 620, stated that plaintiff's argument was "based on the fallacy so prevalent in cases of this kind; that of basing a hypothesis on a view of the evidence favorable to one's own purpose and desires. This invades the province of the jury, whose prerogative it was to decide what evidence to believe." The jury verdict was affirmed.

The general rule was more recently articulated in Bennion v. LeGrand Johnson Const. Co., 701 P.2d 1078, 1082 (Utah 1985), the Court stating, "Where evidence is in conflict in a jury trial, we assume that the jury believed those facts that support its verdict, and we review the facts and reasonable inferences that arise from those facts in a light most supportive of the jury's verdict."

Despite Wright's contention to the contrary, appellate courts do not review findings of fraud by the "clear and convincing" standard. In Faw v. Greenwood, 613 P.2d 1338 (Idaho 1980), the plaintiff bought a business from the defendant. Prior to the sale, the defendant presented plaintiff with profit and loss statements and plaintiff examined the business books. Plaintiff later alleged that defendant had defrauded him and brought suit. Defendant counterclaimed for breach of contract. The trial court ruled in favor of defendant on both plaintiff's complaint

and defendant's counterclaim, and plaintiff appealed. The Idaho Supreme Court, at page 1340, stated, "The issue as to whether fraud has been proven by clear and convincing evidence is for the determination of the trier of fact. On appeal that determination will not be reversed where supported by competent, substantial though conflicting evidence." Our Supreme Court also has recognized the "substantial and competent" test as the proper standard for reviewing findings of fraud. See Von Hake v. Thomas, 705 P.2d 766 (Utah 1985) at page 769. See also Stauth v. Brown, 734 P.2d 1063 (Kan. 1987).

## POINT II

### HUMPHRIES CLEARLY ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION

#### A.

#### ELEMENTS OF FRAUD

For purposes of consistency, Humphries will address the elements of fraud in the same order as identified by Wright.

The jury was instructed consistent with Pace v. Parrish, 122 Utah 144, 247 P.2d 273 (1952), concerning the nine elements necessary to find fraud. They are as follows:

- (1) That a representation was made;
- (2) concerning a presently existing material fact;
- (3) which was false;
- (4) which the representor either (a) knew to be false, or (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation;

(5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it; (6) that the other party acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity; (7) did in fact rely upon it; (8) and was thereby induced to act; (9) to his injury and damage.

247 P.2d at 274-75.

Before discussing these respective elements, the Court's attention is directed to Wright's failure to acknowledge or address the material facts concerning elements (2), (3), (4) (a) (b) and (5) above, discussed on pages 8-11 of this brief.

#### B.

##### STATEMENTS REGARDING VALUE AS AN ELEMENT OF FRAUD

Wright cites what he claims to be the case most directly on point, to-wit, Baird v. Eflow Inv. Co., 76 Utah 232, 289 P. 112 (1930). Not only is the case distinguishable on its facts, but the general rule is not quoted in its entirety in appellant's brief. The court stated:

It is the general rule that misrepresentations as to value do not ordinarily constitute fraud, as they are regarded as mere expressions of opinion or "trader's talk" involving matter of judgment and estimation as to which men may differ. [Citations omitted]. For such representations to be actionable they must be coupled with concealment of material facts or with artifice or misrepresentation used to prevent the hearer from learning the truth, or be made under such circumstances as to indicate that the hearer will rely on them, as when the truth of the speaker's statement is a controlling element of the transaction, or because confidential relations exist.

289 P. at 114.

Baird is further distinguishable in that the owner of the ranch in Montana employed defendants as brokers to find a purchaser for it and ultimately the brokers acted for both parties. Also, the buyer had substantial information available to him. The court stated:

The plaintiff knew that the brokers were acting for both sides to the trade. He, with his wife, made a trip to Salt Lake City from Montana for the purpose and did inspect the apartments. He consulted a banker in Montana, who he said was his business adviser, concerning the trade before he made it. He also consulted a lawyer of his own selection in Salt Lake City concerning the legal phases of the matter. He inquired repeatedly about the details of the income and expenses of the apartments, and was furnished a true statement thereof before he completed his contract. There was nothing done by defendants to prevent the plaintiff from making the fullest inquiry and investigation concerning the value of the apartments.

289 P. at 114.

There is a great difference between a representation made as statement of opinion and a representation made as statement of fact. As stated in 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit § 112 (1968):

Whether a misrepresentation as to value is merely an expression of opinion, or an affirmation of fact or intentional misrepresentation to be relied upon, is generally regarded as a question of fact to be determined by the trier of facts.

As further clarified in 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit § 115 (1968):

There are many exceptions to the general rule that statements of value are not a sufficient basis for

a charge of fraud, such exceptions arising out of the special circumstances under which the representations are made. It cannot be laid down as a matter of law that value is never a material fact. For example, the general rule that such statements are not actionable applies only where the parties stand on an equal footing and have equal means of knowledge, with no relation of trust or confidence existing between them. Likewise, a statement of value may be of such a character, so made and intended, and so received, as to constitute fundamental misrepresentation; and if it is made as an assertion of fact, and with the purpose that it shall be so received, and it is so received, it may amount to a fraud. Moreover, a statement of value involving and coupled with a statement of a material fact is fraud.

After the contract was signed and while the parties were enroute to the subject property, Wright made representations to Humphries that the surrounding property consistently sold for \$30,000 per acre (T.588-90), and that the subject property in a developed state would bring \$30,000 per lot (as compared to \$30,000 per acre) (T.590). Approximately two years after the transaction, the subject property sold for only \$18,233 per acre.

The following statement from 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit § 118 (1968), entitled "Market value or market price", has direct application:

While different conclusions have been reached under varying fact situations, most of the courts support the proposition that representations of market price or market value are not necessarily mere representations of opinion, but are, or at least under some circumstances may be, representations of fact on which fraud may be predicated. For instance, a representation that a certain kind of property, constantly sold, has a market at



certain figures and that it readily sells at those figures, has been held to be not a statement of opinion, but one of fact, upon which fraud may be predicated. Emphasis added.

As stated in 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit § 119 (1968), other exceptions exist to the general rule that an opinion concerning value is not actionable:

This is particularly true where the vendor or seller holds a position of trust and confidence toward the vendee which gives the latter the right to rely on the representation, or where the vendor or seller assumes to have special knowledge of the value, and the vendee, to the former's knowledge, trusts entirely to the vendor's representations. In such cases the vendor or seller may justly be held liable for his false representations, because by them the purchaser is fraudulently induced to forbear inquiry as to their truth. This principle is especially applicable where land was situated at a great distance and the vendor knew that the purchaser was not conversant with the general value of the land in the locality and relied on his representations in respect thereto. Citations omitted.

Wright also cites the case of Dolson Co. v. Imperial Cattle Co., 624 P.2d 993 (Mont. 1981), regarding opinion statements as elements of fraud, but that case can likewise be distinguished. The Supreme Court of Montana affirmed the trier of fact and stated:

We emphasize, however, that it is singularly within the province of the District Court to determine whether fraud has been perpetrated on an innocent purchaser. The District Court is in the best position to weigh the factors involved, assess the credibility of witnesses, and conclude whether the statements regarding value constitute fact or opinion.

The Dolson court determines that it must view the evidence in a light most favorable to the prevailing party and presume the correctness of the District Court's judgment. The court clearly states that it is up to the trier of fact to determine if the representations as to value were opinion (not actionable), as compared to declarations of fact (actionable), and concludes that it is not the proper function of the Supreme Court to exchange its opinion for that of the trier of fact, even if a different conclusion might have been reached.

Wright cites the Arizona case of Frazier v. Southwest Sav. & Loan Ass'n., 653 P.2d 362 (Ariz. App. 1982), in support of his position that fraud was not established. Frazier deals with both fraud and negligent misrepresentation. One of the alleged fraudulent misrepresentations was that the subdivision was "ready to go". The court concluded that no fraud existed because there was no evidence of Southwest's knowledge that the "ready to go" statements were made nor that Southwest knew that those representations were false. In the instant case, however, Wright admitted that he did not know the value of the property at the time the representations were made (i.e., reckless misrepresentation), and that even though he knew of the potential for a building moratorium, he did not disclose the same to Humphries (i.e., concealment). In Frazier, the court

further described the relationship between the court and the jury in determining whether a duty to speak exists, citing with approval the following statement from Restatement (Second) of Torts § 551, Comment m (1977):

Whether there is a duty to the other to disclose the fact in question is always a matter for the determination of the court. If there are disputed facts bearing upon the existence of the duty, as for example the defendant's knowledge of the fact, the other's ignorance of it or his opportunity to ascertain it, the customs of the particular trade, or the defendant's knowledge that the plaintiff reasonably expects him to make the disclosure, they are to be determined by the jury under appropriate instructions as to the existence of the duty.

653 P.2d at 368.

Finally, Frazier is distinguishable in that Southwest had appraised the property because by law it could only loan 75% of the appraised value. In the instant case, Wright did not have the property appraised and did not know the value of the property at the time he made factual representations as to its value which he admitted he intended Defendants to rely upon, and upon which Defendants did in fact rely in determining whether or not to consummate transaction.

### C.

#### CONCEALMENT AS FRAUD

Contrary to Wright's position, the building moratorium declared by the Weber County Commission eleven days after

the transaction was consummated had significant impact on the value of the property. The appraiser called by Humphries, Les Froerer, testified as follows:

Q. [BY MR. CHAMBERLAIN] Did you rely on that moratorium in determining value?

A. [BY MR. FROERER] I relied on that moratorium in attempting to get the highest and best use. But yes, it -- indirectly, yes.

Q. And just tell us why that moratorium would aid you in determining highest and best use.

A. Either you can build homes on it, or you can't build homes on it. And the difference between being able to or not able to drastically affects value -- changes the use.

If it had to go back into agricultural use, you're going down to a much -- to a nominal value. (T.920).

In Elder v. Clawson, 384 P.2d 802 (Utah 1963), the facts somewhat parallel the instant case. In Elder, the evidence showed that the seller knew that a quarantine existed on the farm premises to be sold, that the existence thereof could materially affect the economic operation of the farm, and that he failed to disclose the same to the buyer. The Supreme Court reversed the lower court's dismissal of plaintiff's suit to rescind and remanded for further proceedings in accordance with the views expressed in the opinion. The court noted that the buyer had no occasion to make an independent investigation of the quarantine of which he knew nothing. In the instant case,

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